
 

 

 
Regulatory Committee 

 
Date:  Tuesday, 4 August 2020 
Time:  10.30 am 
Venue:  Microsoft Teams 

 
Membership 
 
Councillor Mark Cargill (Chair) 
Councillor Neil Dirveiks (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor John Cooke 
Councillor Bill Gifford 
Councillor Anne Parry 
Councillor Caroline Phillips 
Councillor David Reilly 
Councillor Clive Rickhards 
Councillor Kate Rolfe 
Councillor Jill Simpson-Vince 
Councillor Adrian Warwick 
Councillor Chris Williams 
 
Items on the agenda: -  
 

1.   General 
 

 

(1) Apologies 
 

 

To receive any apologies from Members of the Committee. 
 

 

(2) Disclosures of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests 
 

 

Members are required to register their disclosable pecuniary 
interests within 28 days of their election or appointment to the 
Council. A member attending a meeting where a matter arises in 
which they have a disclosable pecuniary interest must (unless they 
have a dispensation):  
 
• Declare the interest if they have not already registered it  
• Not participate in any discussion or vote  
• Must leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with 

(Standing Order 39).  
 
 

 



 

Regulatory Committee 
Tuesday, 4 August 2020 

Page 2 
  

 

 
 
 
• Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring 

Officer within 28 days of the meeting Non-pecuniary interests must 
still be declared in accordance with the Code of Conduct. These 
should be declared at the commencement of the meeting. 

 

(3) Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 

5 - 10 

2.   Delegated Decisions 
 

 

 There are no delegated decisions to note. 
 

 

Planning Applications 
 

3.   Planning Application SDC/20CC003 
 

11 - 28 

 Planning Application details, including all documents and plans, can 
be found via the following link - Planning Application SDC/20CC003 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Monica Fogarty 
Chief Executive 

Warwickshire County Council 
Shire Hall, Warwick 

 

https://planning.warwickshire.gov.uk/swiftlg/apas/run/WPHAPPDETAIL.DisplayUrl?theApnID=SDC/20CC003&backURL=%253Ca%2520href%253Dwphappcriteria.display%253FpaSearchKey%253D203674%253ESearch%2520Criteria%253C%252Fa%253E%20%3E%20%3Ca%20href%3D%27wphappsearchres.displayResultsURL%3FResultID%3D325500%2526StartIndex%3D1%2526SortOrder%3DRGNDAT%3AD%2526DispResultsAs%3DWPHAPPSEARCHRES%2526BackURL%3D%253Ca%2520href%253Dwphappcriteria.display%253FpaSearchKey%253D203674%253ESearch%2520Criteria%253C%252Fa%253E%27%3ESearch%20Results%3C%2Fa%3E


 

Regulatory Committee 
Tuesday, 4 August 2020 

Page 3 
  

 

 
To download papers for this meeting scan here with your camera  

 
Disclaimers 
 

Webcasting and permission to be filmed 
Please note that this meeting will be filmed for live broadcast on the internet and can be 
viewed on line at warwickshire.public-i.tv. Generally, the public gallery is not filmed, but by 
entering the meeting room and using the public seating area you are consenting to being 
filmed. All recording will be undertaken in accordance with the Council's Standing Orders. 
 

Disclosures of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests 
Members are required to register their disclosable pecuniary interests within 28 days of 
their election of appointment to the Council. A member attending a meeting where a matter 
arises in which s/he has a disclosable pecuniary interest must (unless s/he has a 
dispensation):  
 
• Declare the interest if s/he has not already registered it  
• Not participate in any discussion or vote  
• Must leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with  
• Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting  
 
Non-pecuniary interests must still be declared in accordance with the Code of Conduct. 
These should be declared at the commencement of the meeting 
The public reports referred to are available on the Warwickshire Web  
https://democracy.warwickshire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1 
 

Public Speaking 
Any member of the public who is resident or working in Warwickshire, or who is in receipt of 
services from the Council, may speak at the meeting for up to three minutes on any matter 
within the remit of the Committee. This can be in the form of a statement or a question. If 
you wish to speak please notify Democratic Services in writing at least two working days 
before the meeting. You should give your name and address and the subject upon which 
you wish to speak. Full details of the public speaking scheme are set out in the Council’s 
Standing Orders.  
 

https://democracy.warwickshire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Regulatory Committee 
 

Tuesday, 7 July 2020  

 

Minutes 
 
Attendance 
 
Committee Members 
Councillor Mark Cargill (Vice-Chair, in the Chair) 
Councillor John Cooke 
Councillor Neil Dirveiks 
Councillor Bill Gifford 
Councillor Caroline Phillips 
Councillor David Reilly 
Councillor Clive Rickhards 
Councillor Kate Rolfe 
Councillor Jill Simpson-Vince 
Councillor Adrian Warwick 
Councillor Chris Williams 
Councillor Wallace Redford 
 
Officers 
Jasbir Kaur, Planning Manager 
Ian Marriott, Legal Service Manager 
Sally Panayi, Planning Assistant 
Matthew Williams, Senior Planning Officer 
Ian Budd, Assistant Director - Education Services 
Craig Cusack, Assistant Director - Enabling Services 
Bern Timings, School Organisation and Planning Manager 
 
Others Present 
Alison Doyle, Local Resident for Item 3 
Debby Hughes, Head Teacher for High Meadow School, Item 3 
Steve Lamb, Applicant for Item 4 
Martin Rose, Applicant for Item 4 
 
1. General 
 
Before the meeting started, the Committee held one minute’s silence for Councillor Richard 
Chattaway who passed away in June 2020.   
 
Councillor Chattaway was remembered as a robust character who was strongly committed to his 
beliefs.  He worked well with everyone across Warwickshire County Council.  He was remembered 
as being immensely proud of his family and the work he did for his community.  He will be a great 
loss to the Council and the Committee sent their thoughts to his family. 
 

Page 5

Page 1 of 6 Agenda Item 1(3)



 

Page 2 
Regulatory Committee 
 
07.07.20 

(1) Apologies 
 
 Apologies were received from Councillor Anne Parry.  Councillor Wallace Redford replaced 

Councillor Parry for this meeting. 
 
(2) Disclosures of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests. 

 
 Councillor Neil Dirveiks confirmed that he was on the planning committee for North 

Warwickshire Borough Council.  Both applications to be determined by the Committee today 
have previously been presented to the planning board at North Warwickshire when Councillor 
Dirveiks was present and voted.  It was confirmed that Councillor Dirveiks would withdraw 
from the Committee for both applications. 
 
(3) Minutes of the Previous Meeting 

 
 The minutes from the meeting held on the 26 May 2020 were agreed as a true and accurate 

record.  There were no matters arising. 
 

2. Delegated Decisions 
 

There were no delegated decisions to note. 
 
3. Planning application NWB/20CC002 Installation of a Second Temporary Classroom and 

Retention of Existing Temporary Classroom Until September 2022, High Meadow 
Community School, Norton Road, Coleshill, B46 1ES. 

 
Sally Panayi, Planning Assistant presented the report to the Committee confirming that the 
application was for the installation of a second temporary classroom and retention of existing 
temporary classroom until September 2022, at High Meadow Infant School in Coleshill. 
 
The Committee noted that this is the fourth application in relation to High Meadow School in 12 
months.  Ms Panayi explained that there is a complicated planning history of which she gave 
details in her presentation, including a previous requirement by the Committee to relocate the 
existing classroom by turning it 90 degrees. It had not been possible to relocate the existing 
classroom during the Easter holidays as had been intended because of the coronavirus 
pandemic. The playground area was required for the movement of vehicles pending 
construction of a new internal access road within the site and the process of relocation would 
take 10 working days. This rendered it impracticable to relocate the existing classroom.  
 
The Committee was asked to note the impact of the current coronavirus pandemic. The 
guidelines for social distancing mean that the planned work will take longer than originally 
thought.  The possibility of a second wave of coronavirus could create further delays. The 
proposed date of September 2022 for the retention of the temporary classroom allows flexibility 
against a second wave of the virus and potential further lockdown restrictions. 
 
It was noted that the current easing of some restrictions has allowed some work to 
recommence at the site. 
 

Page 6

Page 2 of 6



 

Page 3 
Regulatory Committee 
 
07.07.20 

The Committee noted the details for the current application and noted the following reasons 
given for recommending the approval of the application –  

 Previous applications for the site have been approved. 

 Measures and conditions are in place to reduce the impact of the temporary 
classrooms and to control the hours of use of the temporary classrooms at the 
school. 

 The application is for a temporary period. 

 The severe impact of the pandemic on education and children; the operational needs 
of a school are material considerations for deciding on an application. 

 
It was confirmed that there has been some relaxation in some planning rules since the outbreak 
of coronavirus for progress to be made on restarting construction projects.  The Government is 
keen to assist planning and development in a reasonable and proportionate manner.   
 
Following an in-depth discussion in relation to alternative sites for accommodation for use by 
pupils while the 4-classroom extension is under construction, the Committee noted that other 
sites had been considered.  It was confirmed that the alternative site options were considered to 
be unsuitable and would be too disruptive to children. 

 
Public Speaking 

 
Alison Doyle, local resident asked the Committee to note her full objection to the application 
stating that ‘classroom one’ is currently in an unauthorised position.   
 
Having objected to the previous applications, Ms Doyle confirmed that all her original points of 
objection remained; these included the impact of the loss of light to her property due to the 
position of the temporary building and the impact of noise from the site.   
 
Ms Doyle confirmed that some of the conditions attached to previous applications have helped 
to mitigate some issues, but it was impossible to tell if they all worked due to the impact of the 
pandemic, as the school has not been open to full capacity. Ms Doyle asked that the 
classrooms if approved be removed as soon as possible and once the extension is completed 
all use of the temporary buildings should cease. 
 
Debby Hughes, Head Teacher at High Meadow school spoke to the Committee in support of the 
application.   
 
Ms Hughes stated that the school community was proud of all their achievements and asked the 
Committee to consider the application with kindness.   
 
It was confirmed to the Committee that several alternative sites had been considered; including 
new and existing classrooms at the school and at other properties owned by Warwickshire 
County Council.  Ms Hughes confirmed that these sites would be unsuitable for several reasons 
including the transport of children back and forth between sites.  It was also noted that there 
were children with special needs and specific medical needs who could not be off site.  There 
were also members of staff who need to remain with teacher-mentors as they complete their 
qualification.  Finally, teachers with safeguarding responsibility would not be available at 
alternative sites. 

 

Page 7

Page 3 of 6



 

Page 4 
Regulatory Committee 
 
07.07.20 

Ms Hughes concluded by stating that there was no spare space at the school for children 
starting in September 2020 if the application was refused. 
 
Following the public speaking, the Committee felt that supporting the removal of both temporary 
classrooms at the earliest opportunity, while understanding the time constraints, and potential 
future impact of coronavirus, would be beneficial. 
 
Debate 
 
Councillor Adrian Warwick noted that an application that was originally for six weeks was now in 
its third year and that was not right for the children or the neighbours.  Councillor Warwick stated 
that while the pandemic was undoubtably an emergency it could not be forever used as an 
excuse.  Councillor Warwick proposed that the Committee respect the decision made in January 
2020 regarding the position of classroom one and ensure the matter is completed no later than 
October 2021 (October half term). 
 
Following a question from Councillor Jill Simpson-Vince, it was confirmed that, as a result of the 
pandemic, cleaning of the school is now a much longer and deeper programme.  
 
After concern was expressed about the protection of the cherry tree that would be close to the 
second classroom, and its crown, the Committee was advised that the applicant could be asked 
to address this in the Landscaping and Environmental Management Plan that was required by 
the conditions.  
 
Clare Gibb, Property Consultant confirmed that lock-down restrictions had stopped the 
classroom being rotated as agreed by the Committee in January 2020.  It was noted that, after a 
review of the social distancing guidelines for the construction industry, it would be possible to 
comply with a requirement to relocate the existing classroom were one to be imposed.  The 
Committee noted that a second wave of the pandemic or any further lock-down restrictions 
could prevent or delay compliance with such a requirement. 
 
The Committee also agreed to bring forward the date for removal of the classrooms to 22 
August 2022 in order to allow a cushion of 10 working days between that deadline and the start 
of term.  Having been advised by Clare Gibb, Property Consultant, Property Services, that 
relocation of the existing classroom by October 2021 was achievable, the Committee favoured 
such a requirement but with provision for extension of that deadline, in consultation with the 
Chair, if extenuating circumstances caused delays.   
 
Following a discussion, conditions in substantially the following form were proposed as part of a 
revised recommendation –  

 
Amended Condition 2: 
 
The temporary classrooms hereby permitted shall cease to be used from the date that the 
school is able to use the four classrooms permitted by planning permission reference 
NWB/19CC006 and the temporary classrooms shall be removed from site at the first practicable 
opportunity after that date and in any event before 22 August 2022. 

 
 

Page 8

Page 4 of 6



 

Page 5 
Regulatory Committee 
 
07.07.20 

Amended Condition 8: 
 
The temporary classrooms hereby permitted shall not be used outside the hours of 7:30 and 
16:30 on weekdays (meaning Monday to Friday) or at any time on weekends or outside term 
time except for preparation by classroom staff and cleaning and maintenance and use for 
parent-teacher consultations until no later than 19:00 hours on no more than three weekdays in 
a school year in each classroom. 

 
Relocation Condition: 
 
The temporary classrooms hereby permitted shall (if present on the site) be located in the 
positions shown on [drawing number] no later than October 2021 (or such other date as the 
local planning authority may agree) and remain in those positions so long as they remain 
present on site. 
  
The recommendation was proposed by Councillor Adrian Warwick and was seconded by 
Councillor Jill Simpson-Vince. A vote was held, and the Committee voted unanimously in favour 
of the recommendation to grant planning permission. 

 
4. Planning Application : NWB/19CM020 - Kingsbury Quarry 
 

Matthew Williams, Senior Planning Officer presented the report to the Committee confirming 
that the quarry is in the north of the county and is a long-established operation. 
 
The proposed extension area was highlighted to the Committee via a presentation and it was 
confirmed that the application is to extend the end date for extraction and restoration to 2055. 
 
The Committee noted that there is a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) on the site which 
is a geographical exposure feature.  The proposal would require the removal of this existing 
geological exposure. The application proposes the creation of a replacement geological 
exposure elsewhere within the site. 
 
It was confirmed that there would be no increase in vehicle movements should the application 
be approved. 
 
The Committee noted that the application would be an acceptable form of development within 
the Green Belt due to the openness and temporary use of the land. 
 
It was confirmed that there are conditions in place to protect existing ecology on site. 
 
Debate 
 
Councillor Dave Reilly raised concerns about viewing the details of the application via a virtual 
meeting.  The Committee felt that they had received a thorough presentation and report from 
the officer.  The report addressed the objections raised by the community and the site has been 
open for many years. 
 

Page 9

Page 5 of 6



 

Page 6 
Regulatory Committee 
 
07.07.20 

The Committee did agree that while meetings were being held virtually as a result of restrictions 
imposed due to the pandemic, alternative ways of sharing officer presentations would be 
investigated by officers. 
 
The recommendation was proposed by Councillor Clive Rickhards and was seconded by 
Councillor John Cooke. A vote was held, and the Committee voted 9 in favour of the 
recommendation, with one abstention, to grant planning permission. 

 
5. The date of the next meeting 
 

The date of the next meeting was confirmed as 4 August 2020 at 10:30am. 
 

The meeting will be held virtually via Microsoft Teams. 
 
 
 
 The meeting rose at 13:33 
 
 
 

…………………………. 
The Chair 

Page 10

Page 6 of 6



Page 1 of 12 

Regulatory Committee - 04 August 2020 

Planning Application SDC/20CC003 

 

Regulatory Committee - 04 August 2020 
 

Creation and management of 2 no. wildlife ponds 
and butterfly bank on farmland as part of the 

Warwickshire, Coventry 
and Solihull great crested newt conservation strategy, 
Forest of Hearts, Gospel Oak Lane, Pathlow, Stratford 

upon Avon, CV37 0JA. 
 

 SDC/20CC003 
 

Application No.: SDC/20CC003 

Advertised date: 11 June 2020 

Applicant(s) Mr Craig Cusack 
Warwickshire County Council 
Shire Hall 
Warwick 
CV34 4RL 

Agent(s) Mrs Carolyn Cox 
Warwickshire County Council  
Shire Hall 
Warwick 
CV34 
4RLSX 

Registered by: The Strategic Director for Communities on 4 June 2020 

Proposal: To create and manage 2 no. wildlife ponds and butterfly 
bank on farmland as part of the Warwickshire, Coventry 
and Solihull great crested newt conservation strategy. 

Site & location: Forest of Hearts, Gospel Oak Lane, Pathlow, Stratford 
upon Avon Cv37 0JA 

[Grid ref: 259152.419227]. 
 

See Appendix A 
 

Recommendation 
 

That the Regulatory Committee authorises the grant of planning permission 
for the creation and management of 2 no. wildlife ponds and butterfly bank 
on farmland as part of the Warwickshire, Coventry and Solihull great 

Page 11

Page 1 of 12 Agenda Item 3



Page 2 of 12 

Regulatory Committee - 04 August 2020 

Planning Application SDC/20CC003 

 

crested newt conservation strategy at Forest of Hearts, Gospel Oak Lane, 
Pathlow, Stratford upon Avon, subject to the conditions and for the reasons 
within the Appendix B. 

 
1. Application details 

 
1.1 The application seeks planning permission for the creation of two 

wildlife ponds, soil spreading and a butterfly bank from pond 
excavations and the enhancement of grassland in an area of 1.5 
hectares in a 2-hectare (ha) field to the north of Gospel Oak Lane, 
Pathlow.  The actual works cover an area of 0.7ha. The plan 
accompanying the planning application shows indicative proposals for 
a future orchard on the western side of the site and native tree 
planting outside the northern application boundary. 
 

1.2 Forest of Hearts (FOH) is a charity promoting accessible and 
sustainable agroforestry or a “Forest Garden” which exists for the 
enjoyment, education, volunteering and supports good causes. It has 
plans to create an edible garden at Stratford which can be a 
community asset and a place of peace and tranquillity. The ponds and 
butterfly bank are part of a biodiversity offset scheme with WCC that 
also includes the enhancement of the existing species poor grassland 
to a Lowland Meadow BAP priority grassland. The biodiversity offset 
land is owned by the FOH and the scheme will be managed by the 
FOH.  Other schemes planned by FOH, including the edible garden 
and fruit tree planting, will be carried out on adjacent land that they 
own. 

 

1.3 The ponds and other proposals would be created as part of the 
Warwickshire, Coventry and Solihull great crested newt conservation 
strategy The aim of the strategy is to create and increase the amount 
of high- quality aquatic and terrestrial habitat which would be 
achieved by creating and restoring habitat in strategic locations where 
there are known newt populations; good newt habitat and 
connectivity, thereby extending the range and amount of good habitat 
for newts. 

 
1.4 The habitats created and restored as part of the strategy are 

designed to compensate for development impacts on great crested 
newts in advance of impacts occurring in locations beyond the 
application site. The new habitats would deliver long-term net gain for 
the species by securing all habitat enhancements through 30-year 
agreements. 

 
1.5 The two ponds proposed at Forest of Hearts are close to a known 

great crested newt population. The ponds would be surrounded by 
and linked to good terrestrial habitat for newts, including woodland, 
hedgerows, semi improved grassland and a belt of trees along Gospel 
Oak Lane which provide good resting; sheltering and foraging habitat 

Page 12

Page 2 of 12



Page 3 of 12 

Regulatory Committee - 04 August 2020 

Planning Application SDC/20CC003 

 

for great crested newts. Creation of the ponds would also have the 
benefit of increasing the biodiversity value of the site for other species 
including amphibians, invertebrates, birds and reptiles. 

 

1.6 It is proposed that the ponds would be excavated by a 3600 excavator 
with the work undertaken over one to two days in Autumn 2020. The 
clay ground would be puddled to eliminate pores and cracks and 
further impede drainage. The ponds would be allowed to fill naturally 
by rainfall and surface water run-off. 

 

1.7 Pond A would be located within the south west corner of the field 
covering an area of some 200 m2. A 1m high bund would be 
created on the western side of the pond using some of the 
excavated pond soils and would be either seeded with a 
wildflower seed mix or covered by green hay. The pond area 
would be cleared of existing dense scrub vegetation and excavated 
to a depth of 1.5 metres. The margins of the pond would be gently 
sloping to provide areas of shallow water. The pond would be 
puddled with clay and allowed to fill with rainwater and surface 
water run-off. No trees would be removed to create the pond. The 
pond would not extend beneath the canopy area of nearby trees 
and for this reason would not have an impact on the roots of those 
trees. 

 
1.8 Pond B would be located further east near the southern boundary of 

the field and would cover an area of 308 m2. The pond area would be 
cleared of existing dense scrub vegetation and excavated to a depth 
of 1.5 metres. A 1m high bund would be created on the western side 
of the pond covering an area of 76 m2 using some of the excavated 
pond soil and would be either seeded with a wildflower seed mix or 
covered by green hay. Some of the margins of the pond would be 
sloping to provide areas of shallow water but the deepest part at the 
southern end could facilitate a potential future pond dipping platform to 
be developed by others in the future.  

 

1.9 The pond would be naturally filled by surface water run-off from the 
field and by rainwater. No trees would be felled to create the pond. 
The pond would not extend beneath the canopy area of nearby trees 
and for this reason would not have an impact on the roots of those 
trees. 

 
1.10 The proposals also include a 1m high, 80m long butterfly bank which 

would be constructed from subsoil excavated from the ponds and 
located along part of the northern boundary of the site using a mini 
digger. Twenty tonnes of crushed stone would be imported and spread 
to create a 2-metre-wide bare ground buffer either side of the bank. 
The bank would be spread with green hay or wildflower seed mix 
suitable for butterflies. 

 

Page 13

Page 3 of 12



Page 4 of 12 

Regulatory Committee - 04 August 2020 

Planning Application SDC/20CC003 

 

1.11 There is an indicative area covering 67m by 12m (approx.) shown on 
the plans on the western side of the site to be developed as a future 
orchard. Topsoil from the pond excavations would be spread over the 
orchard area to facilitate future planting by others later. Any surplus 
soils from the excavations not used in construction of the bunds and 
bank would be spread using a dumper truck to a depth of 100mm on 
the eastern side of the field.  

 
1.12 The two ponds would be monitored after their construction to ensure 

they become established and provide the intended habitat. 
Management of the ponds would be required initially to prevent algal 
growths or invasion by competitive plants which may colonise new 
ponds. The ponds are not to be stocked with fish which would predate 
great crested newts. The applicant advises that in the longer term, 
management of the ponds would potentially require thinning of aquatic 
plants every 5 years.  

 
1.13 The bunds and the bank would be managed by ensuring that they 

do not become overgrowth with tall vegetation and scrub. The 
existing poor semi-improved grassland would be enhanced by 
sowing, spreading green hay and long-term management by hay 
cutting and grazing. 

 
 

2. Consultation  
 

2.1 Stratford District Council – Planning: No objection 
 

2.2 Stratford District Council – Environmental Health: No comments 
received at the time of writing 

 

2.3 Snitterfield Parish Council: No comments received at the time of 
writing. 

 

2.4 Councillor Anne Parry: No comments received at the time of writing. 
 
2.5 Environment Agency: No comments  
 
2.6 Natural England: No objection. 
 
2.7 WCC Flood Risk and Water Management: No objection 

 
2.8 WCC Highways: No objection. 

 
2.9 WCC Archaeology: No comment to make. 

 
2.10 WCC Ecology Services: No objection subject to the imposition of a 

planning condition requiring the submission and approval of a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan to cover a number of 

Page 14

Page 4 of 12



Page 5 of 12 

Regulatory Committee - 04 August 2020 

Planning Application SDC/20CC003 

 

matters and notes being attached to the decision notice to deal with 
amphibians and reptiles and the impact of ground clearance works 
and ditches on protected species.  

2.11 A site notice posted – 11 June 2020 
 

2.12 Press notice posted on – 11 June 2020 

 
 

3. Representations 
 

3.1      No comments have been received at the time of writing. 
 

4. Previous Planning History 
 
4.1 There is no previous planning history for the application site. 

 
5. Assessment and Observations 

Location 

5.1 The site where the development is proposed lies 2 kms west of the 
village of Snitterfield and off an unmade track leading from Gospel Oak 
Lane. The site lies within an existing field which is not classified as best 
and most versatile agricultural land (Grades 1, 2 and 3a). The unmade 
track forms the western boundary of the site and fencing the eastern 
boundary. The northern boundary of the planning application site is not 
defined on the ground lying between 12m -19m from the northern fence 
line and the line of the unmade track. The southern boundary is also 
undefined lying between 5m -11m (protecting tree roots and a ditch) to 
the north of the southern boundary of the field which is partially 
trees/hedge and a ditch. The site is open and the ground falls gently 
from the north to the south. 
 

5.2 To the north west of the site lies fields containing two isolated disused 
Old RAF Buildings/structures and an Old RAF Building next to the 
access to the site which has been converted into a storage building by 
FOH and a purple ISO container used by FOH. To the north east of the 
site (68 metres at its nearest point) and off the unmade track lies a long 
single storey Old RAF Building which has been converted into four 
holiday lets together with other structures/storage containers and a 
concrete apron (The Marsdens). Beyond that lies the existing 
Snitterfield airfield which is currently used by Stratford on Avon Gliding 
Club. The Club does not use the unmade track but gains access from 
Bearley Road to the north. To the east, south and west of the site lies 
farmland. Stratford Armouries Museum lies 355 metres to the west.  
 

5.3 The site lies within the West Midlands Green Belt. 
 

 

Page 15

Page 5 of 12



Page 6 of 12 

Regulatory Committee - 04 August 2020 

Planning Application SDC/20CC003 

 

Planning Policy 
 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 

5.4 The NPPF February 2019 explains that there is a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development and that planning applications for 
development proposals which accord with the development plan should 
be approved without delay. 

 
5.5 The NPPF states that the planning system has three overarching 

objectives; economic, social and environmental which are 
interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways. 
Planning policies and decisions should play an active role in guiding 
development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take 
local circumstances into account, to reflect the character, needs and 
opportunities of each area. 

 
5.6 Chapter 13 of the NPPF relates to protecting Green Belt land. Paragraph 146 

states that certain other forms of development are also not inappropriate in the 
Green Belt provided they preserve its openness and do not conflict with the 
purposes of providing land within it and this includes b) engineering operations 
and e) material changes in the use of land. Paragraph 134 says that the Green 
Belt serves the following five purposes: 

 
a) To check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas; 
b) To prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another; 
c) To assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment; 
d) To preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and  
e) To assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and 

other urban land. 
 

5.7 Chapter 15 of the NPPF relates to conserving and enhancing the 
natural environment. Paragraph 174 states that plans should protect 
and enhance biodiversity by the promotion of conservation, restoration 
and enhancement of priority habitats, ecological networks and the 
protection and recovery of priority species and by identifying and 
pursuing opportunities for securing measurable net gains for 
biodiversity. Paragraph 175 (d) continues by stating that development 
whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity should 
be supported; while opportunities to incorporate biodiversity 
improvements in and around developments should be encouraged, 
especially where this can secure measurable net gains for biodiversity. 

 
The Development Plan 

 
5.8 The Development Plan relevant to the proposal in this case consists of 

the Stratford-on-Avon District Council Core Strategy (Adopted July 
2016) and the Snitterfield Neighbourhood Development Plan 2011 -
2031 (adopted 24 April 2018). Therefore, the application should be 

Page 16

Page 6 of 12



Page 7 of 12 

Regulatory Committee - 04 August 2020 

Planning Application SDC/20CC003 

 

determined (as required by Section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004) in accordance with those policies 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
Stratford-on-Avon District Council Core Strategy (Adopted July 
2016) 

 

5.9 Policy CS.1 Sustainable Development: requires that all development 
proposals should contribute towards the character and quality of the 
District and to the well-being of those who live and work in and visit the 
District. 

5.10 Policy CS.5 Landscape: states that the character and quality of the 
District will be maintained by development which minimises and 
mitigates its impact and where possible, incorporates measures to 
enhance the landscape. 

 
5.11 Policy CS.6 Natural Environment: states that proposals will be 

expected to minimise impacts on biodiversity and where possible to 
secure a net gain in biodiversity by safeguarding and, where possible, 
enhancing existing habitats. In addition proposals should make 
provision, where appropriate, for measures that will secure the creation 
and management of additional habitats, to strengthen networks of 
habitats, to foster landscape scale conservation in line with identified 
opportunities and priorities, to address the priorities of the Local 
Biodiversity Action Plan and to support an increase in the local 
populations of species of principal importance. 

 
5.12 Policy CS.7 Green Infrastructure: states that 

A) the existing Green Infrastructure network in the District will be 
promoted through the principles of protection, enhancement, 
restoration and creation. 
B) the availability of open spaces, waterways and other green 
infrastructure features will be maintained and improved as a 
contribution towards including - quality of life and attractive 
communities; biodiversity and the provision of habitats. 

 
5.13 Policy CS.10 Green Belt: states that the purposes of the 

Green Belt will be upheld by resisting inappropriate 
development within it, except in the cases where very special 
circumstances are justified in accordance with the provisions 
of national policy 

 
5.14 Policy CS 12 Special Landscape Area: The site lies within 

the Arden Special Landscape Area. The policy states this 
area will be protected by resisting development proposals that 
would have a harmful effect on its distinctive character and 
appearance. 

 
 

Page 17

Page 7 of 12



Page 8 of 12 

Regulatory Committee - 04 August 2020 

Planning Application SDC/20CC003 

 

 
5.15 Policy CS 26 (e) deals with general aviation activity which is 

supported at the existing airfield of Snitterfield. The 
established southern limit of the airfield lies 115 metres to the 
north of the site.  

 

5.16 Policy AS.10 Countryside and Villages: This policy applies to all 
parts of the District apart from those which lie within the Built-Up Areas 
Boundaries defined for Stratford-upon-Avon and the Main Rural 
Centres. In order to help maintain the vitality of rural communities and a 
strong rural economy, provision will be made for a wide range of 
activities and development in rural parts of the District. In order to help 
maintain the vitality of rural communities and a strong rural economy, 
provision will be made for a wide range of activities and development in 
rural parts of the District. All proposals will be thoroughly accessed 
against the principles of sustainable development, including the need to 
minimise impact on the character of the local landscape, communities 
and environmental features. 

 
Snitterfield Neighbourhood Development Plan (adopted 24th April 2018) 
 

5.17 Policy NE 1 Protection of Natural Features and Other Area of Rich 
Biodiversity: states that development should protect and where possible enhance 
natural features, ecosites, wildlife corridors and other biodiversity rich areas. All 
developments should incorporate nectar rich plants in their plans. Opportunities to 
create, enhance and restore adjacent habitats for biodiversity will be encouraged. 
 

5.18 Policy NE 2 Biodiversity and Protection of Individual Species: states that 
development will not be supported unless it protects, enhances and/or restores 
habitat biodiversity. Development will only be supported in areas where rare or 
vulnerable wildlife or plant species are present, if the conservation status of such 
species can be maintained. 

 
 
Policy Considerations  
 
Green Belt  
 

5.19 The wording of the national planning policy on protecting the Green Belt accepts 
that some level of operational development and changes of use can take place 
within it without causing any harm. This small development is not considered to be 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt and therefore would not cause harm 
to the Green Belt. It does not conflict with the five purposes set out in paragraph 
5.5 above because it is not built development, it is distant from Stratford and 
Warwick, it lies in a rural area and will safeguard the countryside. It would 
preserve the openness because it does not involve built development, it is a 
development which would be in keeping with the surrounding farmland, it is a 
small scale operation which can be carried out in a very short period, it will not 
have an unacceptable adverse impact on visual amenity, it is clearly related to 

Page 18

Page 8 of 12



Page 9 of 12 

Regulatory Committee - 04 August 2020 

Planning Application SDC/20CC003 

 

other terrestrial and aquatic habitats and species, it will enhance the landscape 
and will increase biodiversity. 
 
Aviation 
 

5.20 The construction and future management of this small-scale development would 
not impact on the operation of the Gliding Club due to the extent and nature of the 
works and that the purpose of the ponds is not to create a bird hazard risk. 
 

 
Amenity and Environmental Issues  

Neighbouring Property 

5.21 Within 70 metres of the northern boundary of the site lies a former RAF building 
which has been converted into four holiday lets. This building is not screened and 
has open uninterrupted views of the whole site. It is single storey and orientated in 
a south west-north east direction. The nearest works would be the construction of 
the butterfly bank while the pond excavations would take place between 175 - 200 
metres away. There would be some impacts in terms of visual intrusion, noise and 
dust however, this is a small-scale development, it would be completed in a few 
days and would involve machinery and working not dissimilar to some agricultural 
operations which benefit from permitted development rights. While distance to the 
works would to some degree mitigate the impacts on the property it would be 
advisable to impose a planning condition to restrict operations to 8.00am – 5.00pm 
Mondays to Fridays to minimise the impact of the development.   
 
Landscape  

5.22 The site lies within the Arden Special Landscape Area in the adopted 
Local plan and within the Wooded Estatelands landscape character 
type where the management strategy is to conserve and enhance the 
overall structure and well wooded character of the landscape. The 
proposed development has been designed to avoid carrying out works 
beneath the canopy area of nearby trees. The creation of the new 
small features of ponds, bank and the grassland enhancement would 
enhance the landscape qualities of the area after initial construction 
and therefore would not have an unacceptable adverse impact on the 
local landscape.  

 
Visual Impact 

5.23 The ponds and the butterfly bank would be within an open field which is 
not visible from public roads due to existing vegetation and distance. 
The construction works however would be visible from the converted 
building to the north although the ponds at 175 - 200 metres. The works 
would be carried out over a very short period. The two ponds would be 

Page 19

Page 9 of 12



Page 10 of 12 

Regulatory Committee - 04 August 2020 

Planning Application SDC/20CC003 

 

shallow features with associated raised bunds no more than 1 metre in 
height. The butterfly bank is long and thin yet no more than 1m in height 
and would be treated to soften its initial impact and increase its 
attractiveness to butterflies. The crushed stone spreading either side of 
the bank would initially change the appearance of a very small part of 
the field but once laid and treated would eventually blend into the 
landscape. Considering all the factors it is considered that the 
development would not have an unacceptable adverse visual impact.  

              
             Highway  
 
5.24 The application site is accessed via an unmade track leading to Gospel 

Oak Lane to the south which connects to the A46 to the east and 
A3400 Birmingham Road to the west. The unmade track continues 
beyond the site to the north up to the existing Snitterfield airfield and 
The Marsdens 

 
5.25 The applicant has indicated that the excavation work required for the 

creation of the ponds would be carried out with the use of a 360o
 

excavator. The only materials to be imported is the equivalent of one 
lorry load of crushed stone for the butterfly bank. No excavated material 
would be removed from the site as excavated soil would be used to 
create bunds and a bank or be spread on the site.  

 

5.26 The Highway Authority raised no objection to the proposed 
development. 

 

Ecology 
 

5.27 The applicant advises that the long-term survival of great 
crested newts is dependent on the persistence of viable 
meta-populations (a group of spatially separated 
populations of the same species which interact at some 
level). Clusters of ponds in an extensive, well connected 
landscape are much more important for the long-term 
viability of the species than larger, but isolated populations. 
Newt movements are fairly limited with most individuals 
rarely moving more than a few hundred meters from the 
breeding pond. Some individual newts do however travel 
over a kilometre. It is the movement of these individuals 
that ensures the maintenance of the meta-populations and 
genetic diversity. For this reason, breeding ponds need to 
be reasonably close to other ponds which act as 
‘steppingstones’ and allow great crested newt populations 
to shift around the landscape in terms of both location and 
over time as ponds change their suitability for both 
breeding and foraging. 

 
 

Page 20

Page 10 of 12



Page 11 of 12 

Regulatory Committee - 04 August 2020 

Planning Application SDC/20CC003 

 

5.28      The two wildlife ponds are proposed to be created within an area 
containing high quality terrestrial habitat for great crested newts, 
including woodland, hedgerows, semi-improved grassland and a 
belt of trees along Gospel Oak Lane. These habitats provide 
foraging, shelter and hibernation opportunities for newts throughout 
the year. They also would provide good connectivity between the 
proposed ponds and the existing ponds in the area. 

 
5.29     The County Ecologist has no objection to the proposals 

subject to the imposition of a planning condition requiring 
the submission and approval of a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) covering a 
number of matters and notes being attached to the 
decision notice to deal with amphibians and reptiles and 
the impact of ground clearance works and ditches on 
protected species.  

 
5.30     While there are records of a small local population of great 

crested newts and possibly some reptile habitat on the site 
the County Ecologist recommends that a method 
statement for dealing with GCN and reptiles found on site 
be included in a Construction Environmental Management 
Plan (CEMP). The Plan could also cater for carrying out of 
works during the bird nesting season if that was necessary. 
Root protection of any of the hedging along the southern 
ditch course could also be included in the Plan. Where 
native trees are to be planted then they should form part of 
a landscape and ecological management plan and this 
plan should also address the types and numbers of trees to 
be planted in the future orchard. Information on the green 
hay to be used, any wildflower seed mixes proposed and 
instructions for contractors should also be included in the 
Plan.  

 
5.31     The County Ecologist advises that a Biodiversity Impact 

Assessment (BIA) has been carried out using the DEFRA 
metric and the proposed works will provide a net 
biodiversity gain. This gain, their monitoring and 
management would need to be delivered through the 
CEMP.  

 

              Heritage 
 
5.32 The Conservation Areas and the Listed buildings in the villages of 

Bearley (north west of the site) and Snitterfield (east of the site) are 
1.51 kms and 1.83 kms respectively from the site. The closest listed 
buildings; The Chimney House (grade II) in Bearley and Wyvern and 
Wolds Cottage and Barn (grade II) are located 1.5 kms from the site. 
The site is shown in the Warwickshire Historic Environment Record 

Page 21

Page 11 of 12



Page 12 of 12 

Regulatory Committee - 04 August 2020 

Planning Application SDC/20CC003 

 

(HER) as part of RAF Snitterfield, a Second World War airfield. The 
Planning Archaeologist has no comments to make on the planning 
application. Given the separation distances, intervening features and 
the minor scale of the proposed development, there is no impact on 
heritage assets or their settings as a result of the proposed pond 
creation and butterfly bank construction.  

 
6. Conclusions 
 
6.1 The proposed development would create suitable habitat for great 

crested newts; provide good connectivity between the proposed and 
existing ponds and enhance biodiversity in the locality. The creation 
and maintenance of the ponds would compensate for impacts on great 
crested newts as a result of development elsewhere in the County. The 
creation of the butterfly bank and enhancement of the grassland would 
increase the level of biodiversity in the area. 

 
6.2 The proposed development is considered to accord with the aims of the 

NPPF and Policy CS.6 of the Development Plan to increase net 
biodiversity, is not inappropriate development and therefore will not 
cause any harm to the Green Belt and would not result in any 
unacceptable adverse impacts and for these reasons is recommended 
for approval subject to the recommended conditions. 

 

7. Supporting Documents 
 
7.1 Submitted Planning Application – Planning reference SDC/20CC003 
 
7.2 Appendix A - Map of site and location. 
 
7.3 Appendix B – Planning Conditions. 
 
 
 
 

 Name Contact Information 

Report Author  Paul Wilcox paulwilcox@warwickshire.gov.uk 
01926 412538 

Assistant Director for 
Environment 
Services 

Scott Tomkins scotttomkins@warwickshire.gov.uk 

Strategic Director 
for Communities 

Mark Ryder markryder@warwickshire.gov.uk 

Portfolio Holder Cllr Jeff Clarke  

 
 
 

Page 22

Page 12 of 12

mailto:paulwilcox@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:scotttomkins@warwickshire.gov.uk
mailto:markryder@warwickshire.gov.uk


Warwickshire County Council
Shire Hall
Warwick, CV34 4SA
Telephone (01926 410410)
www.warwickshire.gov.uk

  Application No: SDC/20CC003
  Forest of Hearts, Gospel Oak Lane, Pathlow
  Create and manage 2 wildlife ponds on farmland 

Regulatory Committee 04 August 2020
Scale 1:5000 Drawn by: SP Dept: Communities © Crown Copyright and database right 2018. Ordnance Survey 100019520.

P
age 23

P
age 1 of 1

P
age 1 of 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 3 

Regulatory Committee - 04 August 2020 

Planning Application SDC/20CC003 (Appendix B) 

 

Appendix B 

  

Creation and management of 2 no. wildlife ponds 
and butterfly bank on farmland as part of the 

Warwickshire, Coventry 
and Solihull great crested newt conservation strategy, 
Forest of Hearts, Gospel Oak Lane, Pathlow, Stratford 

upon Avon, Cv37 0JA. 
 

 SDC/20CC003 

Planning Conditions. 
 

1. The development hereby approved shall be commenced no later than 
3 years from the date of this permission. 

 

Reason: To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2. The development hereby approved shall be implemented in 

accordance with the plans and documents numbered: 
 

 LEHE35/02             - Location Plan 

 LEHE35/01 Rev C – Landscape Plan 

 Forest of Hearts Proposed Pond Creation Supporting Statement 

& Management Plan (February 2020) 
 

and any samples or details approved in accordance with the conditions 
attached to this permission, except to the extent that any modification 
is required or allowed by or pursuant to these conditions. 

 
Reason: To define the permission and to ensure that the permission is 
implemented in all respects in accordance with the submitted details. 
 

3. The development hereby approved shall not be commenced until a 
Construction and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority 
and any pre-commencement measures in the approved plan have 
been implemented. The Plan shall include a working method statement 
for great crested newts and reptiles, a landscape and ecological 
management plan for native tree planting and future orchard planting, 
delivery of net gain measures; details of pre-commencement checks 
for breeding birds and appropriate working practices and safeguards 
for wildlife that are to be employed whilst works are taking place on 

Page 25

Page 1 of 3Page 1 of 3



Page 2 of 3 

Regulatory Committee - 04 August 2020 

Planning Application SDC/20CC003 (Appendix B) 

 

site. The approved Plan shall be implemented in full. 
 

Reason: To ensure that protected species are not harmed by the 
development in accordance with policies in the development 
plan. 
 

4. No noise generating operations shall be carried out before 
8.00am and after 5.00pm Mondays to Fridays without the prior 
written agreement of the County Planning Authority. No such 
operations shall be carried out on Saturdays or Sundays or on 
Public Holidays. 

 
Reason: To protect the amenities of the Old RAF building north of the 
site which has been converted into holiday lets during the period of the 
construction works. 

 
 

Notes 

1. Generic reptile and amphibian note: 
 

In view of the nearby records / ponds care should be taken when clearing 
the ground prior to development and when storing materials on site. If 
evidence of specially protected species such as reptiles or amphibians is 
found (great crested newt, grass snake, common lizard or slow-worm), 
work should stop while WCC Ecological Services or Natural England is 
contacted. Reptiles and amphibians are protected to varying degrees 
under the 1981 Wildlife and Countryside Act and the Countryside and 
Rights of Way Act 2000 and great crested newts are additionally deemed 
European Protected Species under the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2010. 

 
2. General trench note: 

 
Particular care should be taken when clearing ground prior to 
development, and if evidence of badger, amphibians or reptiles is found 
(such as the presence of newts, lizards, snakes, reptile sloughs or 
badgers, snuffle holes, latrines or established setts) work must stop 
immediately while WCC Ecological Services or Natural England are 
contacted. Applicants are advised to pay particular attention to foundation 
ditches, which can be hazardous to badgers. Sloping boards or steps 
should be provided to allow animals to escape from such ditches should 
they become trapped. Failure to consider this matter, leading to the death 
of individuals, may leave the developer liable for prosecution. Further 
information about species licensing and legislation can be obtained from 
the Species Licensing Service on 01733 455136. Badgers and their setts 
(communal place of rest) are protected under the Protection of Badgers 
Act 1992, making it illegal to carry out work that may disturb badgers 
without a Natural England licence. Reptiles and amphibians are protected 
to varying degrees under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 

Page 26

Page 2 of 3



Page 3 of 3 

Regulatory Committee - 04 August 2020 

Planning Application SDC/20CC003 (Appendix B) 

 

amended) and the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 and great 
crested newts are additionally deemed European Protected Species. 

 
 
Development Plan Policies Relevant to the Decision. 

 
Stratford-on-Avon District Council Core Strategy (Adopted July 2016) 

 

Policies CS.1 Sustainable 
Development  

CS.5 Landscape 

CS.6 Natural Environment Policy  

CS.7 Green Infrastructure Policy 

CS.10 Green Belt 

CS.12 Special Landscape Areas 

CS.26 e)  

AS.10 Countryside and Villages 

 

Snitterfield Neighbourhood 
Development Plan 2011- 2031 
(Adopted 24th April 2018) 

 

Policies NE.1 Protection of Natural 
Features and Other Areas of Rich 
Biodiversity 

NE.2 Biodiversity and Protection of 
Individual Species 

 

 
 
Compliance with the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Order) (England) Order 2015 

 
In considering this application the County Council has complied with 
paragraph 38 contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 
2019. 

 

 

 
 
 

Page 27

Page 3 of 3



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1(3) Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3 Planning Application SDC/20CC003
	Appendix A Location Plan
	Appendix B Planning Conditions


